

# Observatorio BCE

## Europa

Madrid, 3 de noviembre de 2011  
Análisis Económico

Escenarios Financieros

Sonsoles Castillo  
s.castillo@bbva.com

Javier Amador  
javier.amadord@bbva.com

María Martínez Álvarez  
maria.martinezalvarez@bbva.com

Cristina Varela Donoso  
cvarela@bbva.com

Europa

Miguel Jiménez González-Anleo  
mjimenez@grupobbva.com

Agustín García Serrador  
agustin.garcia@grupobbva.com

## Nos acercamos de nuevo al 1%

- El BCE adoptó por sorpresa un enfoque preventivo, recortando los tipos en un 0,25%
- Las sombrías perspectivas de la actividad preocupan más que la inflación
- No hay cambios en el programa de compra de deuda (SMP por sus siglas en inglés)

**Conclusiones: el BCE decidió por unanimidad recortar el tipo de referencia principal en un 0,25%. Esperamos en breve un nuevo recorte de 25 pb, ya que al parecer el BCE seguirá con un enfoque más pragmático en los próximos meses.**

El BCE decidió por unanimidad recortar el tipo de referencia principal en 0,25%, hasta el 1,25%, un movimiento que no se había previsto. También recortó el tipo de interés marginal para depósitos y para préstamos en 25 pb, dejando por tanto sin revisar la banda de fluctuación de los tipos de interés (en +/-75 pb). Esta sorprendente medida fue tomada en la primera reunión de Mario Draghi como presidente del BCE.

El recorte de los tipos se ha justificado por la materialización de los riesgos bajistas para la actividad económica, junto con el pronunciado descenso de la confianza a comienzos de octubre. El Consejo de gobierno declaró que "algunos de estos riesgos se han materializado, por lo que es muy probable que se haga una significativa revisión a la baja de las previsiones y proyecciones del crecimiento medio del PIB real en 2012". Además, cuando le preguntaron a Draghi acerca de los riesgos para la actividad, respondió que "lo que observamos es que el lento crecimiento iba hacia una leve recesión a finales de año". Los argumentos para tomar la decisión son convincentes, pero sorprenden hasta cierto punto después del enfoque adoptado recientemente por el Consejo de gobierno. Sin embargo, es comprensible bajo un punto de vista preventivo o pragmático si tenemos en cuenta el balance de riesgos a los que se enfrenta la zona euro. Si se mantiene este enfoque más realista, podemos esperar un nuevo recorte para diciembre.

En rigor, los datos económicos del tercer trimestre confirmaron un resurgimiento de la crisis financiera y un menor crecimiento mundial, pero no es una gran novedad en comparación con septiembre, cuando el personal del BCE hizo una estimación anual del crecimiento del PIB del 1,3% para 2012. Nuestro escenario confirma las sombrías perspectivas hacia fin de año. Los datos acerca de la confianza, en especial el índice de gerentes de compras fueron de nuevo decepcionantes en octubre, lo que apunta a una ligera contracción en el último trimestre del año de acuerdo con nuestro modelo a corto plazo.

En la declaración también se puso énfasis en que "las tensiones actuales de los mercados financieros probablemente enfriarán el ritmo de crecimiento económico de la zona euro en la segunda mitad de este año y posteriormente". La expresión "y posteriormente" muestra que el eventual impacto que tendrá el empeoramiento de la crisis de la deuda sobre el crecimiento de la zona euro podría ser duradero y que las presiones sobre los precios, los costes y los salarios (presiones inflacionistas) deberían moderarse también. En este contexto, el peso del argumento de la inflación (actualmente en el 3%) frente a la pronunciada caída que se prevé en la actividad parece haberse reducido. Compartimos este punto de vista, ya que seguimos creyendo que la inflación se moderará hacia el final del año debido a los efectos base favorables en los precios de la energía junto con la debilidad de la demanda interna, y que volverá a estar por debajo del objetivo del BCE a finales del 1T de 2012.

Gran parte del turno de preguntas se centró en el Programa de compra de deuda (SMP). A este respecto, Draghi no cambió la línea de Trichet. Destacó que el SMP es temporal y limitado en términos de cuantía, y lo justificó como medio para restablecer los canales de transmisión monetaria. También hizo hincapié en que los gobiernos tienen que centrarse en las reformas internas, estabilizar sus finanzas públicas y embarcarse en medidas que estimulen el crecimiento con el fin de reducir las tensiones en los mercados de deuda. Asimismo, señaló que la función del BCE como prestamista de última instancia “no está realmente en el cometido del BCE”. No obstante, esperamos que el BCE mantenga la compra de bonos tanto tiempo como sea necesario.

## Annex 1: Introductory statement to the press conference

~~Jean-Claude Trichet~~ **Mario Draghi**, President of the ECB,  
Vitor Constâncio, Vice-President of the ECB,  
~~Berlin, 6 October~~ **Frankfurt am Main, 3 November** 2011

Ladies and gentlemen, ~~the Vice-President and I are very pleased to welcome you to our press conference here in Berlin. Let me take. Today is the opportunity to warmly thank President Weidmann for his invitation and kind hospitality. first time that I would also like to express our special gratitude to have had the staff privilege and pleasure of chairing the Deutsche Bundesbank for the excellent organisation of our meeting. Let me now report on the outcome of today's meeting of the Governing Council, which was also attended by the President of the Eurogroup, Prime Minister Juncker, and Commissioner Rehn ECB. I am delighted to proceed now with our well-established practice of real-time communication and to report on the outcome of our meeting, together with the Vice-President.~~

Based on its regular economic and monetary analyses, the Governing Council decided to ~~keep~~ **reduce** the **key ECB interest rates unchanged. Inflation by 25 basis points. While inflation** has remained elevated and ~~incoming information has confirmed our view that inflation~~ is likely to stay above 2% ~~over the for some months ahead but to to come, inflation rates are expected to decline thereafter further in the course of 2012 to below 2%.~~ At the same time, the underlying pace of monetary expansion continues to be moderate. ~~Ongoing tensions in financial markets and After today's decision, inflation should remain in line with price stability over the policy-relevant horizon. Owing to their unfavourable effects on financing conditions and confidence, the ongoing tensions in financial markets~~ are likely to dampen the pace of economic growth in the euro area in the second half of this year ~~and beyond.~~ The economic outlook ~~remains continues to be~~ subject to particularly high uncertainty and intensified downside risks. ~~At the same time, short term interest rates remain low. It~~ Some of these risks have been materialising, which makes a significant ~~downward revision to forecasts and projections for average real GDP growth in 2012 very likely. In such an environment, price, cost and wage pressures in the euro area should also moderate; today's decision takes this into account. Overall, it~~ remains essential for monetary policy to maintain price stability over the medium term, thereby ensuring a firm anchoring of inflation expectations in the euro area in line with our aim of maintaining inflation rates below, but close to, 2% over the medium term. Such anchoring is a prerequisite for monetary policy to make its contribution towards supporting economic growth and job creation in the euro area. ~~A very thorough analysis of all incoming data and developments over the period ahead is warranted.~~

~~The Governing Council has decided to conduct two longer term refinancing operations (LTROs), one with a maturity of approximately 12 months in October and the other with a maturity of approximately 13 months in December. The operations will be conducted as fixed rate tender procedures with full allotment. The rate in both operations will be fixed at the average rate of the main refinancing operations (MROs) over the life of the respective LTRO, and interest will be paid when each operation matures. These operations will be conducted in addition to the regular and special term refinancing operations, which remain unaffected.~~

~~The Governing Council has also decided to continue conducting its MROs as fixed rate tender procedures with full allotment for as long as necessary, and at least until the end of the sixth maintenance period of 2012 on 10 July 2012. This procedure will also remain in use for the Eurosystem's special term refinancing operations with a maturity of one maintenance period, which will continue to be conducted for as long as needed, and at least until the end of the sixth maintenance period (i.e. around the end of the second quarter) of 2012. The fixed rate in these special term refinancing operations will be the same as the MRO rate prevailing at the time.~~

In addition, the Governing Council has decided to conduct the three-month LTROs to be allotted on 25 January, 29 February, 28 March, 25 April, 30 May and 27 June 2012 as fixed rate tender procedures with full allotment. The rates in these three-month operations will be fixed at the average rate of the MROs over the life of the respective LTRO.

Furthermore, the Governing Council has decided to launch a new covered bond purchase programme (CBPP2). The programme will have the following modalities:

- The purchases will be for an intended amount of EUR 40 billion.
- The purchases will have the capacity to be conducted in the primary and secondary markets and will be carried out by means of direct purchases.
- The purchases will start in November 2011 and are expected to be fully implemented by the end of October 2012.

Further details on the modalities of CBPP2 will be announced after the Governing Council meeting of 3 November 2011.

The provision of liquidity and the allotment modes for refinancing operations will continue to ensure that euro area banks are not constrained on the liquidity side. All the non-standard measures taken during the period of acute financial market tensions are, by construction, temporary in nature.

Let me now explain our assessment in greater detail, starting with the **economic analysis**. Real GDP growth in the euro area, after slowing in the second quarter of 2011 to 0.2% quarter on quarter, is now expected to be very moderate in the second half of this year. In particular, a number of factors seem to be dampening the underlying growth momentum in the euro area, including a moderation in the pace of global demand, falling consumer and business confidence, and unfavourable effects on financing conditions resulting from ongoing tensions in a number of euro area sovereign debt markets. At the same time, we continue to expect euro area economic activity to benefit from continued positive growth in the emerging market economies as well as from the low short-term interest rates and the various measures taken to support the functioning of the financial sector.

In the Governing Council's assessment, the risks to the economic outlook for the euro area remain on the downside in an environment of particularly high uncertainty. Downside risks notably relate to the ongoing tensions in some segments of the financial markets in the euro area and at the global level, as well as to the potential for these pressures to further spill over into the euro area real economy. They also relate to the still high energy prices, protectionist pressures and the possibility of a disorderly correction of global imbalances.

With regard to price developments, euro area annual HICP inflation was 3.0% in September 2011, according to Eurostat's flash estimate, after 2.5% in August. Inflation rates have been at elevated levels since the end of last year, mainly driven by higher energy and other commodity prices. Looking ahead, inflation rates are likely to stay clearly above 2% over the coming months but to decline thereafter. This pattern reflects the expectation of relatively stable wage growth developments in the context of moderate economic growth.

The provision of liquidity and the allotment modes for refinancing operations will continue to ensure that euro area banks are not constrained on the liquidity side. All the non-standard monetary policy measures taken during the period of acute financial market tensions are, by construction, temporary in nature.

Let me now explain our assessment in greater detail, starting with the economic analysis. Real GDP growth in the euro area, which slowed in the second quarter of 2011 to 0.2% quarter on quarter, is expected to be very moderate in the second half of this year. There are signs that previously identified downside risks have been materialising, as reflected in

unfavourable evidence from survey data. Looking forward, a number of factors seem to be dampening the underlying growth momentum in the euro area, including a moderation in the pace of global demand and unfavourable effects on overall financing conditions and on confidence resulting from ongoing tensions in a number of euro area sovereign debt markets. At the same time, we continue to expect euro area economic activity to benefit from continued positive economic growth in the emerging market economies, as well as from the low short-term interest rates and the various measures taken to support the functioning of the financial sector.

In the Governing Council's assessment, the downside risks to the economic outlook for the euro area are confirmed in an environment of particularly high uncertainty. Downside risks notably relate to a further intensification of the tensions in some segments of the financial markets in the euro area and at the global level, as well as to the potential for these pressures to further spill over into the euro area real economy. They also relate to the impact of the still high energy prices, protectionist pressures and the possibility of a disorderly correction of global imbalances.

With regard to price developments, euro area annual HICP inflation was 3.0% in October according to Eurostat's flash estimate, unchanged from September. Inflation rates have been at elevated levels since the end of last year, mainly driven by higher energy and other commodity prices. Looking ahead, they are likely to stay above 2% for some months to come, before falling below 2% in the course of 2012. Inflation rates are expected to remain in line with price stability over the policy-relevant horizon. This pattern reflects the expectation that, in an environment of weaker euro area and global growth, price, cost and wage pressures in the euro area should also moderate.

The Governing Council continues to view the risks to the medium-term outlook for price developments as broadly balanced, taking also into account today's decision. On the upside, the main risks relate to the possibility of increases in indirect taxes and administered prices, owing to the need for fiscal consolidation in the coming years. In the current environment, however, inflationary pressure should abate. The main downside risks relate to the impact of weaker than expected growth in the euro area and globally. In fact, if sustained, sluggish economic growth has the potential to reduce medium-term inflationary pressure in the euro area.

Turning to the **monetary analysis**, the annual growth rate of M3 ~~was 2.8% in August~~ increased to 3.1% in September 2011, up from 2.17% in ~~July~~ August. The annual growth rate of loans to the private sector, adjusted for loan sales and securitisation, was ~~2.8%~~ 7% in September, unchanged from August. ~~As in August, after 2.6% in July. A number of factors, possibly related to the intensification of inflows into M3 also reflect the heightened tensions in some financial markets, could have had an upward effect on the components of M3.~~ In particular, ~~sizeable inflows into overnight deposits and~~ money market fund shares/units, as well as ~~a substantial inflow~~ into repurchase agreements conducted through central counterparties, appear to have ~~driven~~ significantly affected monetary developments in August. ~~The inflow into repurchase agreements mainly reflected secured lending in the interbank market, which was increasingly settled via central counterparties that are allocated to the money holding sector. Overall, M3 growth was driven in particular by the increase in the annual growth rate of M1 from 1.0% in July to 1.7% in August and the increase in the annual growth rate of marketable instruments~~ September. The annual growth rate of M1 increased to 2.0% in September, from 1.7% in August.

On the counterpart side, the annual growth rate of loans to non-financial corporations and to households in ~~August, both~~ September, adjusted for loan sales and securitisation, remained broadly unchanged from July, compared with August, at 2.2% and 2.76% respectively. These figures do not signal that the heightened financial market tensions have affected the supply of credit up to September. However, as such effects can manifest themselves with lags, close scrutiny of credit developments is warranted in the period ahead. Taking the appropriate medium-term perspective, ~~trends in~~ and looking through short-term

volatility, underlying broad money and loan growth have ~~broadly~~ stabilised over recent months. Overall, the underlying pace of monetary expansion thus remains moderate.

~~The situation of the banking sector calls for particular attention, taking into account the interplay between sovereign risk issues and banks' funding needs. As we have done on previous occasions, the Governing Council urges banks to do all that is necessary to reinforce their balance sheets, to retain earnings, to ensure moderation in remuneration, and to turn to the market to strengthen further their capital bases. Where necessary, they should take full advantage of government support measures, which should be made totally operational, including the possibility in future for the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) to lend to governments in order to recapitalise banks.~~

The overall size of monetary financial institutions' balance sheets remained broadly unchanged over the past few months. The soundness of bank balance sheets will be a key factor in reducing potential negative feedback loop effects related to tensions in financial markets, thereby facilitating an appropriate provision of credit to the economy over time. We therefore welcome the agreement of the European Council to proceed with the increase in the capital position of banks to 9% of core Tier 1 by the end of June 2012. We also fully support the call to national supervisors to ensure that banks' recapitalisation plans do not lead to excessive deleveraging.

To sum up, based on its regular economic and monetary analyses, the Governing Council decided to ~~keep~~reduce the key ECB interest rates ~~unchanged. Inflation by 25 basis points.~~ While inflation has remained elevated and ~~incoming information has confirmed our view that inflation~~ is likely to stay above 2% ~~over the for some months ahead but to come,~~ inflation rates are expected to decline ~~thereafter further in the course of 2012 to below 2%.~~

A ~~cross-check~~ with the information from our monetary analysis confirms that the underlying pace of monetary expansion continues to be moderate. ~~Ongoing tensions in financial markets and~~ After today's decision, inflation should remain in line with price stability over the policy-relevant horizon. Owing to their unfavourable effects on financing conditions and confidence, the ongoing tensions in financial markets are likely to dampen the pace of economic growth in the euro area in the second half of this year and beyond. The economic outlook ~~remains continues to be~~ subject to particularly high uncertainty and intensified downside risks. ~~At the same time, short-term interest rates remain low. It~~ Some of these risks have been materialising, which makes a significant downward revision to forecasts and projections for average real GDP growth in 2012 very likely. In such an environment, price, cost and wage pressures in the euro area should also moderate; today's decision takes this into account. Overall, it remains essential for monetary policy to maintain price stability over the medium term, thereby ensuring a firm anchoring of inflation expectations in the euro area in line with our aim of maintaining inflation rates below, but close to, 2% over the medium term. Such anchoring is a prerequisite for monetary policy to make its contribution towards supporting economic growth and job creation in the euro area. ~~A very thorough analysis of all incoming data and developments over the period ahead is warranted.~~

Turning to **fiscal policies**, ~~with financial market uncertainty remaining high, all governments need to take decisive and frontloaded action to bolster public confidence in the sustainability of government finances. All euro area governments need to show their inflexible determination to fully honour their own individual sovereign signature as a key element in ensuring financial stability in the euro area as a whole. Countries under joint EU-IMF adjustment programmes as well as those particularly vulnerable to financial market conditions need to unambiguously implement all announced measures for fiscal consolidation and the strengthening of domestic fiscal frameworks, and they need to stand ready to take any additional measures that may become necessary owing to the evolution of their situation.~~ The Governing Council takes note of the fiscal commitments expressed in the Euro Summit statement of 26 October 2011 and urges all governments to implement fully and as quickly as possible the measures necessary to achieve fiscal consolidation and sustainable pension systems, as well as to improve governance. The governments of countries under joint EU-IMF adjustment programmes and those of countries that are

particularly vulnerable should stand ready to take any additional measures that become necessary.

~~Fiscal~~ It is crucial that fiscal consolidation ~~and~~ and structural reforms must ~~reforms~~ reforms go hand in hand to strengthen confidence, growth prospects and job creation. The Governing Council therefore ~~urges~~ calls upon all euro area governments to ~~decisively and swiftly implement~~ accelerate, urgently, the implementation of substantial and ~~comprehensive~~ comprehensive structural reforms. This will help ~~these~~ the euro area countries to strengthen competitiveness, increase the flexibility of their economies and enhance their longer-term growth potential. In this respect, labour market reforms are ~~key,~~ with a ~~essential and should~~ essential and should focus on ~~the removal of~~ measures to remove rigidities and ~~the implementation of measures which to~~ enhance wage flexibility. ~~In particular, we should see the elimination of automatic wage indexation clauses and a strengthening of firm level agreements, so that wages and working conditions can be tailored to the specific needs of firms.~~ More generally, in these demanding times, moderation is of the essence in terms of both profit margins and wages. These measures should be accompanied by structural reforms that increase competition in product markets, particularly in services - including the liberalisation of closed professions - and, where appropriate, the privatisation of services currently provided by the public sector, ~~thereby facilitating productivity growth and supporting competitiveness.~~ At the same time, the Governing Council ~~urges~~ stresses that it is absolutely imperative that euro area ~~governments to fully~~ national authorities rapidly adopt and implement ~~all aspects of the decisions they took on 21 July~~ measures announced and recommended in the Euro Summit statement of 26 October 2011.

~~Let me close with some personal remarks. This is my last press conference following a meeting of the Governing Council. I remember my first press conference, eight years ago, as if it were yesterday. I want to tell you that it has been a great pleasure to have this regular dialogue with the press, with all of you. We have, together, each of us with our different responsibilities, analysed the European and global situation throughout these years. We were never in calm waters. But for more than four years now, we have been experiencing turbulent waters, storms, unexpected hurricanes. In demanding times, regular, real-time and transparent communication is more important than ever. The channels of national, European and global communication which you are responsible for are crucial for the appropriate functioning of markets, for the correct understanding of economists and economic agents, and for the information of the people of Europe, our fellow citizens, to whom, as an independent institution, we are accountable. Eight years ago the concept of a press conference immediately after the meeting of the Governing Council was still considered a bold innovation. Today it is part of the global state-of-the-art. And the Vice-President and I also have to thank you for that.~~

**AVISO LEGAL**

Este documento, así como los datos, opiniones, estimaciones, previsiones y recomendaciones contenidas en el mismo, han sido elaborados por Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (en adelante "BBVA"), con la finalidad de proporcionar a sus clientes información general a la fecha de emisión del informe y están sujetas a cambio sin previo aviso. BBVA no asume compromiso alguno de comunicar dichos cambios ni de actualizar el contenido del presente documento.

Ni el presente documento, ni su contenido, constituyen una oferta, invitación o solicitud de compra o suscripción de valores o de otros instrumentos o de realización o cancelación de inversiones, ni pueden servir de base para ningún contrato, compromiso o decisión de ningún tipo.

**El inversor que tenga acceso al presente documento debe ser consciente de que los valores, instrumentos o inversiones a que el mismo se refiere pueden no ser adecuados para sus objetivos específicos de inversión, su posición financiera o su perfil de riesgo ya que no han sido tomadas en consideración para la elaboración del presente informe**, por lo que debe adoptar sus propias decisiones de inversión teniendo en cuenta dichas circunstancias y procurándose el asesoramiento específico y especializado que pueda ser necesario. El contenido del presente documento se basa en informaciones que se estiman disponibles para el público, obtenidas de fuentes que se consideran fiables, pero dichas informaciones no han sido objeto de verificación independiente por BBVA por lo que no se ofrece ninguna garantía, expresa o implícita, en cuanto a su precisión, integridad o corrección. BBVA no asume responsabilidad alguna por cualquier pérdida, directa o indirecta, que pudiera resultar del uso de este documento o de su contenido. El inversor debe tener en cuenta que la evolución pasada de los valores o instrumentos o los resultados históricos de las inversiones, no garantizan la evolución o resultados futuros.

**El precio de los valores o instrumentos o los resultados de las inversiones pueden fluctuar en contra del interés del inversor e incluso suponerle la pérdida de la inversión inicial. Las transacciones en futuros, opciones y valores o instrumentos de alta rentabilidad (high yield securities) pueden implicar grandes riesgos y no son adecuados para todos los inversores. De hecho, en ciertas inversiones, las pérdidas pueden ser superiores a la inversión inicial, siendo necesario en estos casos hacer aportaciones adicionales para cubrir la totalidad de dichas pérdidas. Por ello, con carácter previo a realizar transacciones en estos instrumentos, los inversores deben ser conscientes de su funcionamiento, de los derechos, obligaciones y riesgos que incorporan, así como los propios de los valores subyacentes a los mismos. Podría no existir mercado secundario para dichos instrumentos.**

BBVA o cualquier otra entidad del Grupo BBVA, así como sus respectivos directores o empleados, pueden tener una posición en cualquiera de los valores o instrumentos a los que se refiere el presente documento, directa o indirectamente, o en cualesquiera otros relacionados con los mismos; pueden negociar con dichos valores o instrumentos, por cuenta propia o ajena, proporcionar servicios de asesoramiento u otros servicios al emisor de dichos valores o instrumentos, a empresas relacionadas con los mismos o a sus accionistas, directivos o empleados y pueden tener intereses o llevar a cabo cualesquiera transacciones en dichos valores o instrumentos o inversiones relacionadas con los mismos, con carácter previo o posterior a la publicación del presente informe, en la medida permitida por la ley aplicable.

Los empleados de los departamentos de ventas u otros departamentos de BBVA u otra entidad del Grupo BBVA pueden proporcionar comentarios de mercado, verbalmente o por escrito, o estrategias de inversión a los clientes que reflejen opiniones contrarias a las expresadas en el presente documento; asimismo BBVA o cualquier otra entidad del Grupo BBVA puede adoptar decisiones de inversión por cuenta propia que sean inconsistentes con las recomendaciones contenidas en el presente documento. Ninguna parte de este documento puede ser (i) copiada, fotocopiada o duplicada en ningún modo, forma o medio (ii) redistribuida o (iii) citada, sin el permiso previo por escrito de BBVA. Ninguna parte de este informe podrá reproducirse, llevarse o transmitirse a aquellos Países (o personas o entidades de los mismos) en los que su distribución pudiera estar prohibida por la normativa aplicable. El incumplimiento de estas restricciones podrá constituir infracción de la legislación de la jurisdicción relevante.

Este documento será distribuido en el Reino Unido únicamente a (i) personas que cuentan con experiencia profesional en asuntos relativos a las inversiones previstas en el artículo 19(5) de la ley de servicios y mercados financieros de 2000 (promoción financiera) de la orden de 2005, (en su versión enmendada, en lo sucesivo, la "orden") o (ii) entidades de grandes patrimonios sujetas a lo dispuesto en el artículo 49(2)(a) a (d) de la orden o (iii) personas a las que legalmente se les pueda comunicar una invitación o propuesta para realizar una inversión (según el significado del artículo 21 de la ley de servicios y mercados financieros de 2000) (en adelante, todas estas personas serán "personas relevantes"). Este documento está dirigido únicamente a las personas relevantes y las personas que no sean personas relevantes no se deberán basar en el mismo ni actuar de conformidad con él. Las inversiones o actividades de inversión a las que hace referencia este documento sólo están disponibles para personas relevantes y sólo se realizarán con personas relevantes.

Ninguna parte de este informe podrá reproducirse, llevarse o transmitirse a los Estados Unidos de América ni a personas o entidades americanas. El incumplimiento de estas restricciones podrá constituir infracción de la legislación de los Estados Unidos de América.

El sistema retributivo del/los analista/s autor/es del presente informe se basa en una multiplicidad de criterios entre los cuales figuran los ingresos obtenidos en el ejercicio económico por BBVA e, indirectamente, los resultados del Grupo BBVA, incluyendo los generados por la actividad de banca de inversiones, aunque éstos no reciben compensación basada en los ingresos de ninguna transacción específica de banca de inversiones.

BBVA no es miembro de FINRA y no está sujeta a las normas de revelación previstas para sus miembros.

**"BBVA está sometido al código de conducta de los Mercados de Valores del Grupo BBVA, el cual incluye, entre otras, normas de conducta establecidas para prevenir y evitar conflictos de interés con respecto a las recomendaciones, incluidas barreras a la información. El Código de Conducta en los Mercados de Valores del Grupo BBVA está disponible para su consulta en la dirección Web siguiente: [www.bbva.com](http://www.bbva.com) / Gobierno Corporativo".**

BBVA es un banco supervisado por el Banco de España y por la Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores, e inscrito en el registro del Banco de España con el número O182.